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Plaintiff Tammy Marangopoulos, individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, alleges as follows: 

Introduction 

1.    Plaintiff brings this class action against Defendant Bank of America, National 

Association  (“BANA” or “Defendant”) for violating the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (the 

“ECOA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1691 et seq. The ECOA entitles each credit applicant against whom 

adverse action is taken to a statement of reasons for such action from the creditor. 15 U.S.C. § 

1691(d). To satisfy this obligation, a creditor must provide a written notice that includes the 

specific reasons for the adverse action or discloses that the applicant has the right to a statement 

of reasons. 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(2) and (3). 

2.    BANA failed to provide Plaintiff and class members with the requisite notice after 

denying their credit applications. Instead, BANA sent Plaintiff and class members letters 

substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto stating: “we’ve determined that we’re unable to 

approve your request because your risk profile does not align with the bank’s risk tolerance” or 

words to that effect. This explanation is insufficient because it does not provide the specific 

reasons for the adverse action taken. BANA’s letters also omit any mention of the applicant’s 

right to a statement of specific reasons. 

3.    Plaintiff and the class seek statutory punitive damages of up to $500,000, a halt to 

Defendant’s unlawful practices, and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

4.    The allegations herein that relate to Plaintiff’s personal actions are made based on 

Plaintiff’s personal knowledge. The balance is made on information and belief based on the 

investigation of counsel. 

Parties 

5.    Plaintiff Tammy Marangopoulos is, and at all relevant times was, a resident of 

California. 

6.    Defendant BANA is a national banking association with its headquarters in 

Charlotte, North Carolina. Defendant provides banking services to consumers throughout 

California and the United States. 
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7.    Plaintiff is unaware of the true identities of those Defendants sued herein as DOES 

1 through 10, inclusive, and therefore sues such Defendants by fictitious names. Plaintiff is 

informed and believes and thereon alleges that each of the fictitiously named Defendants is 

responsible in some manner for the injuries alleged by Plaintiff. Plaintiff will seek leave of Court 

to amend this Complaint to show the true names and capacities of the fictitiously named 

Defendants if and when they have been ascertained. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

8.    This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant provided 

banking services to Plaintiff in California. 

9.    Venue lies here pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure §395(a) because 

BANA does not reside in the State. BANA’s most recent Statement of Information filed with the 

California Secretary of State does not designate a principal business office in California. If a 

corporate defendant has not filed such statement designating a principal office in California, 

venue is proper in any county in the State. Easton v. Sup.Ct., 12 Cal. App. 3d 243, 246-247 

(1970). 

General Allegations 

10.    Originally enacted in 1974 to prohibit discrimination in credit transactions, the 

ECOA was amended in 1976 to require creditors to provide applicants with written notice when 

adverse action was taken against them regarding their credit. The notice requirement is intended 

to discourage discriminatory practices, provide consumers with a “valuable educational benefit,” 

and allow for the correction of errors “where the creditor may have acted on misinformation or 

inadequate information.” Tyson v. Sterling Rental, Inc., 836 F.3d 571, 576 (6th Cir. 2016) 

(quoting S. Rep. No. 94–589, at 4 (1976)). 

11.    The adverse action notice requirement is set forth at 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d), which 

provides in relevant part:  

(1)Within thirty days (or such longer reasonable time as specified in 
regulations of the Bureau for any class of credit transaction) after 
receipt of a completed application for credit, a creditor shall notify 
the applicant of its action on the application. 
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(2) Each applicant against whom adverse action is taken shall be 
entitled to a statement of reasons for such action from the creditor. 
A creditor satisfies this obligation by— 

(A) providing statements of reasons in writing as a matter of 
course to applicants against whom adverse action is taken; 
or 

(B) giving written notification of adverse action which 
discloses (i) the applicant’s right to a statement of reasons 
within thirty days after receipt by the creditor of a request 
made within sixty days after such notification, and (ii) the 
identity of the person or office from which such statement 
may be obtained. Such statement may be given orally if the 
written notification advises the applicant of his right to have 
the statement of reasons confirmed in writing on written 
request. 

(3) A statement of reasons meets the requirements of this section 
only if it contains the specific reasons for the adverse action taken. 

… 

(6)For purposes of this subsection, the term “adverse action” means 
a denial or revocation of credit, a change in the terms of an existing 
credit arrangement, or a refusal to grant credit in substantially the 
amount or on substantially the terms requested. Such term does not 
include a refusal to extend additional credit under an existing credit 
arrangement where the applicant is delinquent or otherwise in 
default, or where such additional credit would exceed a previously 
established credit limit. 

12.    The ECOA authorizes the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) to 

issue regulations “to carry out the [ECOA’s] purposes.” 15 U.S.C. § 1691b(a). Under this 

authority, the CFPB issued regulations to carry out the ECOA’s purposes, which are set forth at 

12 C.F.R. Part 1002 and collectively known as Regulation B. 12 C.F.R. § 1002.1(a). 

13.    Plaintiff and each class member is an “applicant” under the ECOA because they 

each applied to BANA directly for an extension of credit. See 15 U.S.C. § 1691a(b) (“The term 

“applicant” means any person who applies to a creditor directly for an extension, renewal, or 

continuation of credit, or applies to a creditor indirectly by use of an existing credit plan for an 

amount exceeding a previously established credit limit.”); 12 C.F.R. § 1002.2(e) (“Applicant 

means any person who requests or who has received an extension of credit from a creditor ….”). 

14.    BANA is a “creditor” under the ECOA because it regularly extends, renews, or 

continues credit and regularly participates in credit decisions in the ordinary course of business. 
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See 15 U.S.C. § 1691a(e) (“The term “creditor” means any person who regularly extends, renews, 

or continues credit ….”);12 C.F.R. § 1002.2(l) (“Creditor means a person who, in the ordinary 

course of business, regularly participates in a credit decision, including setting the terms of the 

credit.”). 

15.    BANA took an “adverse action” against Plaintiff and each class member when it 

denied their respective credit applications. See 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(6) (“[T]he term “adverse 

action” means a denial or revocation of credit, a change in the terms of an existing credit 

arrangement, or a refusal to grant credit in substantially the amount or on substantially the terms 

requested.”); 12 C.F.R. § 1002.2(c)(1) (defining “adverse action” to include “[a] refusal to grant 

credit in substantially the amount or on substantially the terms requested in an application unless 

the creditor makes a counteroffer (to grant credit in a different amount or on other terms) and the 

applicant uses or expressly accepts the credit offered ….”). Defendant’s conduct is not excluded 

from the definition of “adverse action” under 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(6) or 12 C.F.R. § 1002.2(c)(2). 

16.    Upon taking an adverse action against Plaintiff and each class member, BANA 

was obligated to provide the applicant with either: (a) a written statement of reasons containing 

the specific reason(s) for the adverse action taken, or (b) a written disclosure of the applicant’s 

right to a statement of reasons. See 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(2). BANA was required to provide such 

notice within 30 days of receipt of the applicant’s credit application. See 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(1); 

12 C.F.R. § 1002.9(a)(1). 

17.    BANA failed to fulfill these obligations. On December 16, 2020, Defendant sent 

Plaintiff an adverse action notice, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, stating in 

relevant part: 

After our review, we’ve determind that we’re unable to approve 
your request because your risk profile does not align with the 
bank’s risk tolerance. 

BANA sent each class member an adverse action notice, substantially in the form of Exhibit A, 

giving the same reason for the adverse action taken. 

18.    BANA’s  statement of reasons does not meet the requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 

1691(d) because it does not contain the “specific reasons for the adverse action taken.” 15 U.S.C. 
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§ 1691(d)(3). Regulation B requires that the statement of reasons “be specific and indicate the 

principal reason(s) for the adverse action. Statements that the adverse action was based on the 

creditor's internal standards or policies or that the applicant, joint applicant, or similar party failed 

to achieve a qualifying score on the creditor's credit scoring system are insufficient.” 12 C.F.R. § 

1002.9(b)(2). The CFPB’s official interpretation of Regulation B provides that: “[t]he specific 

reasons disclosed under §§ 1002.9(a)(2) and (b)(2) must relate to and accurately describe the 

factors actually considered or scored by a creditor.” 12 C.F.R. Pt. 1002, Supp. I, ¶ 9(b)(2)-2. 

19.    BANA’s explanation for the adverse action taken is not specific and does not 

accurately describe the factor(s) BANA considered in denying the application. BANA’s 

explanation is comparable to attributing the adverse action to “the creditor's internal standards or 

policies,” which is expressly insufficient under the regulations. 12 CFR § 1002.9(b)(2). 

20.    The adverse action notices BANA sent Plaintiff and class members do not disclose 

the applicant’s right to a statement of reasons. 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(2)(B). 

21.    Defendant did not send Plaintiff or class members a compliant adverse action 

notice within 30 days of receiving their at-issue credit applications, or at any time thereafter. 

22.    Defendant’s violation of the ECOA denied Plaintiff and class members the 

“valuable educational benefit” that Congress found would come from knowing the reasons for an 

adverse action.  

23.    Defendant acted in reckless disregard of the ECOA because the adverse action 

notices it sent to Plaintiff and class members were unambiguously deficient under the law. 

Class Action Allegations 

24.    Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 382, Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of 

the following class: 

All natural persons to whom Defendant sent a notice giving “your 
risk profile does not align with the bank’s risk tolerance” as the 
only reason a credit application was denied, to an address in 
California, in the period beginning 5 years before the filing of this 
action and ending on the day of class certification.  

25.    The following individuals are excluded from the class:  

a. officers and directors of Defendant and its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, 



 

 Page 7  

COMPLAINT 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

and any entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest;  

b. all judges assigned to hear any aspect of this litigation, as well as their 

immediate family members. 

26.    Plaintiff reserves the right to modify or amend the definition of the proposed class 

before the Court determines whether certification is appropriate. 

27.    Class certification is appropriate because this action satisfies the applicable 

numerosity, commonality, typicality, adequacy, predominance, and superiority requirements. 

28.    Numerosity: The potential members of the class are so numerous that joinder of all 

the members of the class is impracticable. Plaintiff is informed and believes that there are at least 

hundreds of class members. 

29.    Commonality: There are questions of law and fact common to the class that 

predominate over any individualized questions, including but not limited to: 

a. Whether class members are “applicants” under the ECOA; 

b. Whether Defendant is a “creditor” under the ECOA; 

c. Whether Defendant’s denial of class members’ credit application(s) 

constitute “adverse actions” under the ECOA; 

d. Whether Defendant provided class members with an adverse action notice 

containing the information required by the ECOA; 

e. Whether the class is entitled to an award of punitive damages under the 

ECOA; and 

f. Whether the class is entitled to injunctive relief halting Defendant’s 

unlawful practices under the ECOA. 

30.    Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the class in that Plaintiff 

and the other class members each: (a) applied for a credit account with Defendant, (b) had that 

application denied by Defendant, and (c) were sent adverse action notices containing the same 

alleged deficiencies. Defendant’s conduct is common to all class members and represents a 

common thread of conduct resulting in injury to all members of the class. Plaintiff has suffered 

the harm alleged and has no interests antagonistic to any other class member. 
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31.    Adequacy: Plaintiff is a member of the class and will fairly and adequately 

represent and protect the interests of the class. Plaintiff’s interests do not conflict with the 

interests of other class members. Furthermore, counsel for Plaintiff and the class are competent 

and experienced in class action litigation and consumer protection litigation. Plaintiff’s counsel 

will fairly and adequately protect and represent the interests of the class. 

32.    Superiority: A class action is superior to other available means for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of this controversy. Individual joinder of all class members is impracticable, 

and questions of law and fact common to the class predominate over any questions affecting only 

individual members of the class. Class treatment will allow those similarly situated persons to 

litigate their claims in the manner that is most efficient and economical for the parties and the 

judicial system. 

First Claim for Violation of the ECOA’s Notice Requirement (15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)) 

33.    Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though repeated here. 

34.    Defendant took an “adverse action” against Plaintiff and each class member when 

it denied their credit applications. 

35.    Plaintiff and each class member was therefore entitled to: (a) a statement of 

reasons for Defendant’s denial of their credit application, or (b) a disclosure of their right to a 

statement of reasons. Defendant violated the ECOA’s notice provision, 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d), by 

failing to provide Plaintiff and each class member with an adverse action notice that satisfied 

these requirements. 

36.    Plaintiff and class members, having each been denied a statement of reasons 

containing the specific reasons why their credit application was denied in violation of the ECOA, 

have each been deprived of the valuable educational benefits Congress intended ECOA’s notice 

requirement to confer, and are each “aggrieved applicants” under 15 U.S.C. § 1691e. 

37.    In committing the ECOA violations alleged herein, Defendant acted in reckless 

disregard of the ECOA, warranting imposition of punitive damages against Defendant under 15 

U.S.C. § 1691e(b). 

38.    Defendant is continuing to engage in all of the unlawful conduct alleged herein so 
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Plaintiff, class members, and the general public face continuing likelihood of future injury from 

Defendant’s conduct. 

Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the class, prays for judgment as 

follows: 

1. For punitive damages of up to $500,000 pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1691e(b) in an 

amount to be proven at trial; 

2. For injunctive relief halting Defendant’s unlawful practices pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1691e(c);  

3. For attorneys’ fees pursuant to applicable law including, without limitation, 15 

U.S.C. § 1691e(d) and California Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5;  

4. For costs of suit pursuant to applicable law, including without limitation, 15 

U.S.C. § 1691e(d) and Code of Civil Procedure § 1032; and 

5. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,  

 

 VALERIAN LAW, P.C. 

DARR LAW LLC  

DATED:  April 26, 2021 

By:    
Dominic Valerian 
Alexander Darr  
Attorneys for Plaintiff Tammy 
Marangopoulos 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial of all issues, claims, and causes of action so triable. 

 

 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,  

 

 VALERIAN LAW, P.C. 

DARR LAW LLC  

DATED:  April 26, 2021 

By:  

  

Dominic Valerian 
Alexander Darr  
Attorneys for Plaintiff Tammy 
Marangopoulos 
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